IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 

No. 16-0850 

JONATHAN W. PHYSIOC, Defendant Below, 

Petitioner, 


v. 

STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Respondent. 


APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF BERKELEY COUNTY, WEST VIRGINIA 

(Case Number below: 16-F-14)

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

The Circuit Court of Berkeley County, West Virginia, exercised jurisdiction over 

the criminal case of Jonathan W. Physioc (hereinafter referred to as "Petitioner") 

pursuant to West Virginia Code §51-2-2 [2009]. 

Following a five (5) day trial, a jury found Petitioner guilty on May 3, 2016. The 

trial court denied a post-trial motion to set aside that verdict and sentenced Petitioner on 

July 11, 2016. The Sentencing Order was subsequently entered on July 15, 2016. 

Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction over Petitioner's appeal in accordance with West 

Virginia Code §51-1-3 [2010]. 



ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY 
OF TOTIANNA ETHERIDGE AS TO THE STATEMENT OF CO-DEFENDANT, RYAN 
HENSON, TO ESTABLISH PETITIONER'S ROLE IN THE CONSPIRACY. 

II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT 
PETITIONER'S MOTION TO DISMISS COUNTS 3, 4, 6 AND 7 OF THE INDICTMENT. 

III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GIVE THE 
PROFFERED OSAKALUMI JURY INSTRUCTION AS TO THE STATE'S FAILURE TO 
PRESERVE THE POTENTIALLY EXCULPATORY GUN SCOPE. 

IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GRANT 
APPELLANT'S POST TRIAL MOTION REGARDING SUFFICIENCY OF THE 
EVIDENCE. 

V. WHETHER PETITIONER WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL 
COUNSEL. 

VI. WHETHER THE COMBINED EFFECT OF MULTIPLE CIRCUIT COURT 
ERRORS VIOLATED PETITIONER'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Procedural History 

1. Indictment 

On February 17, 2016, the Berkeley County Grand Jury returned a nine count 

Indictment1 against Jonathan W. Physioc (hereinafter referred to as "Petitioner"). 

Appendix (hereinafter referred to as "App'x") App'x 4-8. Also indicted with Petitioner, 

were Kerri Reigh (hereinafter referred to as "Defendant Reigh"), Ryan Henson 

(hereinafter referred to as "Defendant Henson") and Sherry Basore2. Id. Defendant 

Reigh was represented Matthew Yanni in the lower court and Defendant Henson was 

represented by Steven Greenbaum at both the Magistrate and Circuit Court levels 

1 Count 1: Burglary; Counts 2 through 4: Robbery In The First Degree; Counts 5 through 7: Assault During The 

Commission Of A Felony; Count 8: Attempted Murder; and Count 9: Conspiracy To Commit Robbery. App'x 4-8. 

Count 8 was later dismissed by the State. App'x 4-8. 

2 Ms. Basore is the granddaughter of victim, Robert Basore. She was initially scheduled to be tried separately from 

Petitioner and his co-defendants but ultimately entered a plea and testified at Petitioner's trial. App'x 43,1546. 
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(hereinafter referred to as "Attorney Yanni" and "Attorney Greenbaum") respedively. 

See e.g. App'x 1555, 24. 

Just forty-eight days before trial, March 9, 2016, the trial court appointed Jason 

Stedman, Esquire (hereinafter referred to as "Attorney Stedman") to represent 

Petitioner. App'x 1. Twelve days later, Petitioner was returned to the State of West 

Virginia on March 21, 2016, after addressing criminal charges in Maryland. Id. Twenty

one days later, the first of four pre-trial hearings was held in this case. 

2. Pre-trial Hearings 

a. Monday, April 11, 2016, Pre-trial Hearing 

At this first hearing, Attorney Stedman informed the Court that he had previously 

represented William Basore, one of the alleged vidims in this case on a misdemeanor 

charge. App'x 37. The Court made no inquiry of Petitioner as to the potential conflid of 

interest issue. Id. Consequently, Petitioner did not waive any perceived conflid on that 

day or on the record at any other time. 

Further, Attorney Stedman orally joined in the previously filed written motion of 

Defendant Henson to dismiss Counts 3, 4, 6 & 7 of the Indictment. 3 App'x 1522-24. 

Counsel for Defendant Reigh, submitted a written motion and corresponding 

memorandum of law in support of the same to join in part with Defendant Henson's 

motion. App'x 12-22. The State filed a response to both motions but failed to serve the 

same via fax on the preceding Thursday for the scheduled Monday hearing. App'x 30. 

Therefore, the Court continued the hearing. App'x 34-35. 

3 This motion is neither contained in Petitioners Circuit Court file nor in Defendant Henson's. The only record 
evidence of the motion is the letter and Proposed Order filed by Attorney Greenbaum. App'x 1522. 
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b. Thursday, April 14, 2016, Pre-trial Hearing 

Once again before the Court were the motions to dismiss Counts 3, 4, 6 & 7 of 

the Indictment. App'x 43, 45. As before, Attorney Stedman did not file a written motion 

but instead merely joins in the filed motions through an oral motion. App'x 54. 

Recall, Counts 3 and 4 charge a robbery from William and Michael Basore. 

App'x 5-6. The basis of the defense motions is that these two men were not robbed of 

any personal property. App'x 51-54. As a result, defense counsel argues that no 

malicious assault could then flow during the commission of that alleged felony. App'x 

51. As Attorney Yanni argues, Counts 3 and 4 are factually predicated on the same 

$250.00 and toolbox stolen from Robert Basore's bedroom, and stolen only in Robert's 

presence. App'x 54-57. Simply said, an accurate description of what happened is "one 

person, one larceny." App'x 57. As charged, Attorney Yanni further argued that the 

defendants were exposed to double jeopardy under the duplicitous indictment counts. 

App'x47. 

The State's counter argument is as follows: 

[T]hree men all lived in that home, they were residents of that home and 
therefore anything within that home was under -- it was in their presence, 
as the elements state, it was under their care, custody and control and it 
was taken from all three of them regardless of who it technically belongs 
to. 

App'x 49-50. 

In an effort to save the flawed Indictment, the State moved the trial court to 

amend the same by deleting the phrases "all the property of William Basore" from Count 

3 and "all the property of Robert Basore" from Count 4 arguing it was merely a "clerical 

error." App'x 87, 123-4. Consequently, the release of the Grand Jury Transcripts 
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became particularly germane to determine exactly what testimony was given as to 

whose property was taken during the home invasion.4 App'x 84,85. 

The Court denied the motions to dismiss Counts 3, 4, 6 & 7 of the Indictment and 

adopted the State's motion in its entirety5. App'x 65. In addition, the Court granted the 

motion of the State to amend its Indictment. 6 App'x 79-80. 

Additionally, the Court heard argument on Defendant Henson's motion to exclude 

the admission of gruesome photos at trial. App'x 66-77. The lower court denied the 

motion and later entered an order reflecting the same.7 App'x 99-100, 132-135. 

Last, Attorney Stedman advised the circuit court that no plea offer had been 

extended because Petitioner was unwilling to provide the requisite cooperation to the 

State in its prosecution of his co-defendants. App'x 103-4. 

c. Friday, April 22, 2016, Pre-trial Hearing 

Before the lower court on this day was Defendant Henson's previously filed 

motion to recuse the Assistant Prosecuting Attorney, Timothy Hellman, in this case. 

App'x 1543-6. The basis for the motion was that Mr. Hellman made extra-judicial 

statements in a press release regarding the plea agreement of Sherry Basore in 

violation of Rule 3.6 of West Virginia Rules of Professional Responsibility. Id. Namely, 

just five days before trial, Mr. Hellman stated: 

There is clear evidence that Henson and Physioc swung the lead pipes 
but it still would be a difficult case to prove. This helps our case. The 
reason we were able to arrest the others was because of her statement to 
police, but they are not admissible because they are hearsay. Without her 
testimony we would have a difficult time proving the case. 

4 Attorney Greenbaum later filed a written motion for those transcripts per the Court's request. App'x 1536-39. 

Seemingly, the relevant Grand Jury transcript was later released to defense. See App'x 1557 at docket page entry 

112. 

5 See State's Response to Defendant Henson's Motion to Dismiss, App'x 1528-1534. 

6 This finding was memorialized by written order on May 27, 2016. App'x 123-131. 

7 See App'x 132-135. 
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App'x 1546. Attorney Stedman made no argument in defense of the motion and the 

court subsequently denied the same. App'x 150-153; see also App'x 136-139. 

The trial court also addressed Defendant's Henson's motions in limine regarding 

various 404(b) issues, including, but not limited to, a history of drug use and abuse, 

robbery, and violent tendencies. App'x 1547-1550. Attorney Stedman presented no 

"guilt-by-association" argument as to how this 404(b) evidence might unfairly prejudice 

Petitioner. Nor did Attorney Stedman move to sever Petitioner from a trial with 

Defendant Henson. 

Once again, however, Attorney Stedman did advise the lower court that a written 

plea agreement had been extended and rejected by Petitioner. App'x 190-192. See 

also App'x 1483 (letter purporting to represent the terms of verbal plea offer made to 

Petitioner on April 22, 2016 at the same time the sealed offer was made). The court 

ordered that the written plea offer be placed under seal. App'x 192. That sealed letter 

does not appear to be a part of Petitioner's court record, however. See App'x 1-3. 

d. Monday, April 25, 2016 

Arguably, this is the most consequential pre-trial hearing of the four hearings 

held. On Friday, April 22, 2016, the State produced evidence of jailhouse phone call 

recordings between Petitioner and Defendant Reigh. As a result, Attorney Greenbaum 

filed a motion to sever the trial of his client from Petitioner and from Defendant Reigh. 

App'x 1551. Attorney Yanni filed a memorandum of law to join in the motion. App'x 9

11. Attorney Stedman neither filed a written motion joining in the motion to sever nor 

did he orally join the motion at the pre-trial hearing. No attorney objected on the 

grounds of "unfair surprise" to the late produced and potentially damaging evidence. 
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Instead, during argument regarding the motion to sever, Attorney Stedman 

informs the court as follows: 

There is a statement by Totianna Etheridge, that makes a statement that 
Mr. Henson is talking about the offense and he makes a statement in 
there [the phone call recordings] where he says, [']John messed up and 
got the wrong safe.['] If we are going to tie this together, what we're 
dealing with is we've got a hearsay statement that can be used against my 
client in a co-conspiracy. So I think we should make sure that it's not 
mentioned that she refers to who may have screwed up and who may 
have gotten the wrong safe. 

App'x 210-212. Importantly, Attorney Stedman concedes Ms. Etheridge is a part of the 

charged conspiracy and foregoes any further constitutional analysis of this issue beyond 

a mere evidentiary look at hearsay and relieves the State of its burden to prove the 

conspiracy by a preponderance of the evidence. See App'x 210-251. 

Even the State seems to recognize the gravity of the Etheridge evidence against 

Petitioner as posited in this multi-defendant trial. "We don't often have a joint trial." 

App'x 218. "Yeah, but I don't think that really impacts Mr. Greenbaum's client at all, I 

just think thafs more, Mr. Stedman's the one that thafs going to most have an effect 

against. App'x 225. 

The lower court seems to leave open the issue of the introduction of the 

devastating Etheridge evidence at trial. App'x 224. Obviously uncomfortable with this 

decision, Attorney Greenbaum requests the court to instruct that Attorney Stedman file 

a written motion outlining the evidentiary argument against the introduction of the 

Etheridge testimony regarding what Defendant Henson allegedly said about Petitioners 

role in the crime. App'x 226. It appears that motion was argued to the court the 

following day but was never entered into the court record. App'x 267-268; see also 

App'x 1-3. 
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3. Trial, Tuesday, April 26, 2016 

Trial commenced on April 26, 2016, and continued through May 3,2016. App'x 

1472. The jury returned a guilty verdict against Petitioner on one count of burglary, 

three counts of robbery, three counts of assault during the commission of a felony, and 

one count of conspiracy to commit robbery. App'x 1444-1445, 1474-1476. 

4. Post-trial Motions 

On May 11, 2016, counsel for Defendant Henson filed a motion for a new trial 

premised upon the argument that the State failed to provide discovery regarding Ms. 

Etheridge's testimony that Defendant Henson had induced her to lie. App'x 1553-1554. 

Attorneys Greenbaum and Yanni each filed renewed motions for acquittal. App'x 1477

1480, 259-261. Attorney Stedman filed no post-trial motions. See App'x 1-3. 

Specifically, Attorney Yanni argued that Count 1 should be dismissed against his 

client because the crime of burglary did not occur at night. App'x 259-261. Attorney 

Greenbaum predicated his motions on insufficient evidence and a failure of the State to 

produce key discovery as to Ms. Etheridge. App'x 1477-79, 1553-4. At sentencing, 

Attorney Stedman moved the court to join the previously filed written motions of 

Defendants Henson and Reigh. App'x 1487. All defense motions were ultimately 

denied by the trial court. App'x 1490-1491, 1566, 1623. 

5. Sentencing 

On July 11, 2016, the trial court sentenced Petitioner accordingly: 

Count 1: burglary: 1-15 Years; 
Count 2: robbery in the first degree: 60 Years; 
Count 3: robbery in the first degree: 60 Years; 
Count 4: robbery in the first degree: 60 Years; 
Count 5: assault during the commission of a felony: 2-10 Years; 
Count 6: assault during the commission of a felony: 2-10 Years; 
Count 7: assault during the commission of a felony: 2-10 Years; and 
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Count 9: conspiracy to commit robbery: 1-5 Years. 

The lower court found that Counts 2, 3, and 4, Robbery in the First Degree, 

would run concurrently with one another. The trial court further found that Counts 1, 5, 

6, 7, and 9 shall all be served consecutively to each other and consecutively to the 

sentences for Counts 2,3, and 4. 

B. Statement of Facts 

1. Sherry Basore Pre-Robbery Visit to Robert Basore House 

Approximately two weeks before the robbery, Sherry Basore, Robert Basore's 

granddaughter, Defendant Henson, Totianna Etheridge and "friends of Sherry", Jim and 

Jimmy Garland, visited Robert's house to pick-up her mail and to borrow $20.00. App'x 

663-667, 735, 909. Importantly, Petitioner was not present at this pre-robbery visit to 

Robert's house. App'x 732-735,915,957. 

During the ride to the Basore home, Sherry told the occupants of the car that her 

grandfather had $80,000.00 at his house. App'x 914-915. Again, Petitioner was not in 

that car. App'x 915. This type of loose talk was common for Sherry who once told 

Defendant Henson and Ms. Etheridge the specific logistical details of how best to rob 

her grandfather. App'x 916-917. 

2. The Basore Robbery 

It is critical for this Court to understand that no eyewitness identifies Petitioner as 

one of the Basore house intruders. See ~ App'x 626-690, 781-841. Not Robert 

Basore. Not Michael Basore. Not William Basore. With that in mind, we turn to the 

crime at the center of this case. 

In the early evening hours of May 7, 2015, two masked, ungloved men entered 

the home of Robert Basore located in Hedgesville, West Virginia. App'x 629-630. Also, 
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living in the home were Robert's adult sons, William and Michael. App'x 629. All three 

men were beaten with a metal-type bar during the course of the home invasion. App'x 

630. One of the masked intruders took Robert into his bedroom and ordered Robert to 

disclose the location of a safe and ordered him to open it. App'x 630, 640. What 

Robert produced instead was a small toolbox which contained antique coins. Id. The 

masked man also took a gun with a scope, along with, Robert's wallet which contained 

approximately $250.00. App'x 630, 669-670, 686. Robert was beaten while in his 

bedroom and out-of-sight of his sons. App'x 661-662. Taking no personal property 

from Michael or William who remained in the living room, the two male intruders then 

left home the Basore house. App'x 606. 

3. Totianna Etheridge Trial Testimony 

As this Court will recall, the anticipated testimony from Ms. Etheridge was 

brought before the lower court in the last of the pre-trial hearings; just the day before 

trial began. Specifically, at issue is her willingness to say that Defendant Henson told 

her that Petitioner "messed up and got the wrong safe." App'x 210-212. 

By the time of trial, Ms. Etheridge is the former girlfriend of Defendant Henson. 

App'x 893, 959, 1028-1029. Ms. Etheridge is an admitted heroin addict, shoplifter, and 

fabricator. App'x 952, 962-966, 985. During her trial testimony, she admitted that she 

had previously lied to police. 

I, Totianna, have previously made a false statement while intoxicated on 
heroin involving the case of a home invasion in Hedgesville, West Virginia. 
I was strung out on heroin due to the fact he tried" -- wait. "I was strung 
out on heroin due to the fact he tried to better hisself [sic] with another 
woman. Sherry Basore guided me with information that I wasn't aware of, 
therefore I lied on Ryan Henson. I'm sorry I wasted the Court's, the 
victims', and Ryan Henson's time." 
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"Since then I have became [sic] clean, enrolled into rehab and gotten my 
life together so I wanted to do the right thing by giving a true statement. 
Again I apologize for everything. " 

App'x 978-79. 

Despite these issues of credibility, the lower court nonetheless allowed her to 

testify as to a statement which Defendant Henson allegedly made to her in the hours 

following the Basore robbery which implicated Petitioner. SpeCifically, she testified as 

follows: 

The night that all this happened I was at Lust Nightclub where I was 
working and I had gotten a phone call from Ryan stating he needed some 
money to get out of town because they just hit a lick. 

App'x 895. She continued, 

I went out back to give them the money and he just told me that they hit a 
lick and they needed to get out of town and they didn't get anything 
because Johnny fucked it up. 

App'x 896(emphasis added). 

Attorney Stedman then objected and a sidebar was called. App'x 897. 

MR. STEDMAN: Your Honor, the statement that she makes specifically 
with regard to Johnny screwing up, I would argue that there's nothing 
about that statement that's in the furtherance of the conspiracy. This is 
simply a statement of a co-defendant that's being used against my client. 

App'x898. 

THE COURT: The Court is going to overrule the motion, to save time, I'll 
just say based on the Helmick case and otherwise I'm more persuaded by 
the State's arguments. So to save time I'll just adopt and incorporate Mr. 
Helman's argument as the Court's own in support of its findings and 
conclUSions, and again it was particularly Helmick. So I guess we'll move 
forward. Objection exception of all three Defendants is duly noted. 

App'x 899-900. 
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Remarkably, Attorney Greenbaum then expresses concern that Ms. Etheridge is 

about to incriminate herself into a felony conspiracy and requests the trial court to 

advise her of her 5th Amendment Rights. App'x 900. In an extraordinary move, the 

State then seemingly washes Ms. Etheridge with transactional immunity. 

MR. HELMAN: I mean, Judge, the State doesn't have any intention to 
prosecute her. I don't think there's going to be sufficient evidence to show 
that she's guilty of any crime or anything, so I mean I don't feel like it's 
necessary to instruct her about that. 

THE COURT: Can you just state on the record that the State does not 
intend to prosecute her for that. 


MR. HELMAN: That's correct, [sic] the State does not intend to prosecute 

her for that action. 


App'x 901. 

Despite testifying that Defendant Henson, Defendant Reigh, and Petitioner had 

come to the Lust Nightclub to obtain $40.00 "to get out of town", Ms. Etheridge saw 

Defendant Henson the following day at Motel 6 in Hagerstown, Maryland,S where they 

were living at the time. App'x 904. This incredible testimony largely went unchallenged 

by Attorney Stedman. See App'x 989-990(entire cross examination of Ms. Etheridge). 

4. Victim, William Basore Trial Testimony 

Importantly, William does not identify Petitioner as one of the intruders who 

committed the robbery of Robert or committed the assaults. App'x 751. Equally 

noteworthy, William testifies that only his father was robbed. See App'x 830-831. In 

fact, he makes a point to say "I didn't see them take it [the toolbox, gun and wallet]."

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