IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA 


STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA, 

Respondent, 

v. 	 Appeal No. 16-0850 

JONATHAN W. PHYSIOC, 
Petitioner. 

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, STATE OF WEST VIRGINIA 

The State of West Virginia, by counsel, Robert L. Hogan, Deputy Attorney General, 

respectfully responds to the Brief of Petitioner in the above-styled appeal. Petitioner has failed to 

demonstrate the existence of reversible error and, therefore, the judgment of the Circuit Court of 

Berkeley County should be affirmed. 

I. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. 	 Totianna Etheridge's testimony regarding the statement of Petitioner's co-defendant,

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

residents, Robert, Michael and William Basore. There is no dispute that only the personal 

property of Robert Basore was taken from the home. However, the Amended Indictment, AR at 

127 -31, accurately alleges that Petitioner and his co-defendants robbed or attempted to rob each 

of Robert, Michael and William Basore. The jury was similarly instructed. AR at 1324. Three 

guilty verdicts for the robbery of each man resulted. 

West Virginia Code § 61-2-12(a)(1) (2000), concerning robbery in the first degree, states: 

Any person who commits or attempts to commit robbery by: 

(1) Committing violence to the person, including, but not limited 
to, partial strangulation or suffocation or by striking or beating; or 
(2) uses the threat of deadly force by the presenting of a firearm or 
other deadly weapon, is guilty of robbery in the first degree and, 
upon conviction thereof, shall be imprisoned in a state correctional 
facility not less than ten years. 

This Court has recognized that West Virginia Code § 61-2-12 does not define robbery; rather, it 

effectively establishes separate classes or "degrees" of common law robbery for purposes of 

establishing different, corresponding penalties. See, e.g., State v. Neider, 170 W.Va. 662,666-67, 

295 S.E.2d 902,906-07 (1982) (citing State v. Harless, 168 W.Va. 707,285 S.E.2d. 461 (1981)). 
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At common law, the definition of robbery was (1) the unlawful taking and carrying away, (2) of 

money or goods, (3) from the person of another or in his presence, (4) by force or putting him in 

fear, (5) with intent to steal the money or goods." Syl. Pt. 1, State v. Harless, supra. Notably, 

robbery in the first degree as classified West Virginia Code § 61-2-12(a)(1) is not limited to 

robbery alone; in addition, it encompasses attempted robbery. 

By codifying the law in Chapter 61, Article 2 of the West Virginia Code, the Legislature 

has designated robbery in the first degree to be a crime against the person. Yet, this Court has 

consistently said that the robbery statute must be read in conjunction with the common law 

elements of larceny, State v. Neider, 170 W.Va. at 667, 295 S.E.2d at 907, and has correctly 

found larceny to be a lesser included offense. Syl. Pt. 5, State v. Neider, supra. 

In State v. Collins, 174 W.Va. 767, 329 S.E.2d 839 (1984), this Court addressed and 

engaged in a lengthy analysis of law governing the application of double jeopardy principles in 

the context of an attempted robbery or robberies committed against two convenience store clerks. 

In essence, two store employees were exposed to violence but there was no indication that any 

property other than the store's property was placed at risk. Ultimately, the Court's Syllabus Point 

2 opined: 

It is impossible to conclude from either the common law or 
W.Va. Code, 61-2-12, that an attempt to rob a store by presenting a 
firearm and leaving without taking any property can, in light of 
double jeopardy principles, result in multiple convictions of 
attempted aggravated robbery for each clerk present in such store. 

The Court revisited the double jeopardy issue in State v. Myers, 229 W.Va. 238, 728 S.E.2d 122 

(2012), a completed robbery case in which the petitioner took money from the cash registers of a 

convenience store as well as from the pockets of two individuals who were contracted to provide 

cleaning services to the store. The petitioner, citing Collins, argued that he could be convicted of 
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only one robbery and not three since, from his point of view, the three victims were all 

employees of the store. However, because petitioner took not just money from the store, but the 

individual personal property of the cleaning crew members, this Court held that convictions for 

three completed robberies would not constitute double jeopardy violations. State v. Myers, 229 

W.Va. at 249-50, 728 S.E.2d 133-34. 

Any analysis must begin with recognition of the protection the prohibition against double 

jeopardy may potentially afford. This is not a case involving potential immunity for an accused 

who has been acquitted, nor one involving protection against a second prosecution for the same 

offense after conviction. Cf State v. Collins, 174 W.Va. at 770,329 S.E.2d at 842, citing SyI. Pt. 

1, Conner v. Griffith, 160 W.Va. 680,238 S.E.2d 529 (1977). Similar to Collins, this is the sort 

of case in which the double jeopardy analysis turns on whether multiple punishments have been 

imposed for the same offense. State v. Collins, 174 W.Va. at 771,329 S.E.2d at 843. Thus, a 

sound analysis should continue by examining the offenses alleged. 

The present case is factually distinguishable from both Collins and Myers because it 

occurred not in a place of business, but in a dwelling house. The three victims were all residents 

of the house. The allegation and evidence is that property within the dwelling house was taken 

from the person or presence of each of the three Basore men. Whereas the property of a 

convenience store or bank's proprietor is presumably at risk in robberies attempted in those 

locations, the object of a robbery in a dwelling house and the actual property loss resulting from 

such a robbery are not so clearly defined. In a dwelling house, the personal property of multiple 

individuals is kept and maintained and the respective ownership of such property is frequently 

less than obvious. 

Further, residents of a dwelling house have a different perspective regarding the 
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threatened taking of personal property from within the dwelling, as contrasted with money or 

personal property taken within a place of business. At some point, most store clerks and bank 

tellers will cease to resist the taking of their employer's property if, for no other reason, they 

value their personal well-being over the economic well-being of the employer. Resistance to 

theft within a dwelling house is materially different. A husband may be far more willing to 

contest the taking of his wife's engagement ring. A mother will not hesitate to protect a child's 

essential medication. A son may leap to the defense of his father if an intruder seeks to take the 

father's firearm. When more than one family member is home, more than one will naturally seek 

to protect the personal property of the others. 

The elements of robbery require proof of a taking of property "from the person of another 

or in his presence." At best, these elements require only that the person from whose person or 

presence the property is taken have a greater possessory right than the offender doing the taking. 

The ordinary resident or occupant of a dwelling house will always have a greater possessory 

right to the home's contents than an intruder. 

While, to-date, this Court's double jeopardy jurisprudence addressing robbery has 

focused on the larceny component of the crime, it bears noting that the distinguishing and 

essential element of robbery - and the reason the Legislature classified robbery in the first degree 

as a crime against the person - is the necessary exercise of force or the threat of force against 

another to effectuate the taking. There is no requirement of actual ownership on the part of the 

person who is the subject of the robbery, as evidenced (for example) by the cases in which store 

clerks and bank tellers are victimized during the forcible taking of property belonging to their 

employer. 

If the Court were to transpose its holdings in Collins and Myers to the case at bar and in 
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the manner Petitioner suggests, the State's ability to secure one or more robbery convictions 

would seemingly tum on who among the three Basore men owned which items of personalty. 

Petitioner would presumably concede that had the intruders taken the wallet and money of 

Robert, the tool box and coins of William and the .22 rifle of Michael, there would be three 

completed robberies instead of one, as they argue the facts demonstrate here. But whether under 

those facts or the facts proven below - where all of the stolen property belonged to Robert - the 

property was taken by intruders who exercised force to take the property from the presence of all 

three men, each of whom (a) plainly had a higher possessory and ownership interest in the 

property than the intruder and (b) would naturally resist and defend against the taking. The 

elements of robbery - unlawful taking of property from the person of another or in his presence 

by force or putting him in fear, with intent to steal- are complete as to each of the three Basores. 

Neither perpetrator nor victim contemplated who held actual title to the rifle while the Basores 

were getting their heads bashed with a tire iron. To the extent the Basores (or anyone in their 

position) could be cognizant of the theft in those circumstances, one surmises that the primary 

thought of each would involve how to hold on to a prized possession and avoid having it used 

against himself or a fellow family member. 

Had the Petitioner committed the same crime under the same facts and circumstances 

except that Robert Basore, the "actual owner" of the personalty stolen was away on vacation 

would there be no robbery? One robbery? Or two robberies? The first option is plainly a non

starter. The second begs the question of who, as between Michael and William Basore, would be 

deemed the victim. The State submits that the third option is correct. 

When viewed from the perspective of the public interest, the law should punish offenders 

who exert violence or fear to take property when confronted by multiple individuals more than 

- 14 



those who do so against a single victim, especially in the context of residents of a dwelling 

house. To commit robbery when confronted by multiple persons naturally requires the offender 

to exercise a greater measure of fear or violence, and ordinarily will result in greater harm to 

individuals and the public, than when the same act is committed against a similarly situated 

individual. 

With due respect for the Court's thoughtful analysis in Collins and elsewhere, the State 

asserts that the Circuit Court correctly concluded that the law and double jeopardy principles 

pennit convictions for robbery in the first degree as to each victim under the facts of this case, 

where the victims were among multiple residents of a family dwelling house targeted by violent 

intruders. This Court should affinn the Circuit Court's decision. 

C. 	 Petitioner Was Not Entitled to an Adverse Inference Instruction Where the State's 
Lead Investigator Discarded a Rifle Scope That Was Damaged, Had No Evidentiary 
Value and Was Not Relied Upon by the State at Trial 

Although the State's lead investigator discarded a damaged rifle scope associated with 

Petitioner's crime, an adverse inference instruction to the jury regarding its loss was not 

warranted. The scope was discarded based on the good faith belief that the damaged scope had 

no value to its owners and, after being "fumed" in a failed attempt to identify fingerprints, had no 

further evidentiary value. The State's proof at trial was based on witness testimony rather than 

forensic evidence, and there is no reason to believe the scope had any exculpatory value. The 

Circuit Court correctly elected not to give a requested jury instruction addressing inferences to be 

drawn from the State's loss of evidence.3 

It is well-settled that instructions must be based upon the evidence, and an instruction not 

supported by the evidence should not be given. Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Kester Collins, 154 W.Va. 

3 The disputed instruction is not a part of Petitioner's Appendix Record and has not been produced in his 
co-defendants' appeals. It is problematic for any petitioner to argue that an instruction should have been 
given when that instruction is not available for examination on appeal. 
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771, 180 S.E.2d 54 (1971). To evaluate the instruction Petitioner claims should have been given 

requires an analysis of the law addressing the State's failure to preserve evidence. The 

determination of consequences for the State's loss of evidence is governed by Syllabus Point 2 of 

State v. Osakalumi, 194 W.Va. 758,461 S.E.2d 504 (1995), which states: 

When the State had or should have had evidence requested 
by a criminal defendant but the evidence no longer exists when the 
defendant seeks its production, a trial court must determine (1) 
whether the requested material, if in the possession of the State at 
the time of the defendant's request for it, would have been subject 
to disclosure under either West Virginia Rule of Criminal 
Procedure or case law; (2) whether the State had a duty to preserve 
the material; and (3) if the State did have a duty to preserve the 
material, whether the duty was breached and what consequences 
should flow from the breach. In determining what consequences 
should flow from the State's breach of its duty to preserve 
evidence, a trial court should consider (1) the degree of negligence 
or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing evidence 
considering the probative value and reliability of secondary or 
substitute evidence that remains available; and (3) the sufficiency 
of the other evidence produced at the trial to sustain the conviction. 

The State acknowledges that the scope was discoverable and potentially could have been 

kept and maintained. The scope was discarded because it had no evidentiary value and because, 

in its damaged state, it was of no use to the victims. An analysis of the facts and circumstances 

confirms that the Circuit Court correctly declined to issue a jury instruction addressing the loss 

of this evidence. 

Deputy Philip Butcher testified that he and Deputy McGee were the first law enforcement 

officers to arrive at the Basore residence, and that when they pulled into the driveway, he 

observed a black rifle scope laying in the driveway. AR at 843. It was determined soon thereafter 

that the scope had been attached to a .22 rifle that was taken during the robbery. Deputy Butcher 

advised the lead investigator, Deputy Michael St. Clair, of the scope upon his arrival. AR at 

1064. Deputy St. Clair testified that in an effort to identify fingerprints, he "fumed" the scope - a 

- 16 



process that involved placing the scope in an enclosure with a heating element and a container of 

a Super Glue-like material; heating the material and observing whether it attached to moisture 

associated with fingerprints. AR at 1064-66. However, nothing of evidentiary value was gleaned 

from this process. AR at 1066. 

On cross-examination of Deputy St. Clair, Petitioner's counsel further explored this 

testing and established that DNA testing had not been performed. AR at 1128-34. In the course 

of this questioning, Deputy St. Clair testified that he discarded the scope after fuming it because 

the scope had been damaged, had revealed no fingerprints after "fuming" and he did not believe 

DNA testing could have been performed thereafter. AR at 1132-34. On redirect, Deputy St. Clair 

further explained that because the Super Glue-like vapor used in the "fuming" process would 

have adhered to the scope, it would have coated any DNA evidence that might have been 

present. AR at 1161-62. 

Petitioner's Brief does not quote and the Appendix Record does not contain the proposed 

jury instruction that Petitioner contends should have been given. However, the trial transcript 

addresses the Circuit Court's consideration of the request. AR at 1234-49. The State correctly 

argued that the scope was not material to the issues in the case. The scope was not significant to 

the State's proof, nor was it material to the defense strategy of attacking the testimony of 

Totianna Etheridge. AR at 1240-42. Rather, the defense was merely speculating that DNA or 

perhaps fiber evidence might have been found had the scope been available for inspection and 

evaluation. AR at 1245-46. The Circuit Court was of the opinion that the investigator's choice to 

attempt to obtain fingerprints was a logical one. AR at 1247-48. Consistent with Deputy St. 

Clair's testimony that the "fuming" would have coated any evidence present on the scope, AR at 

1161-62, the Circuit Court observed that this method would "not leave something in very good 
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condition." AR at 1248. The Circuit Court wisely concluded that it would be unfair to utilize an 

instruction that would draw attention to a matter that was not among the central, material issues 

in the case. AR at 1248. 

The Circuit Court's analysis was appropriate. In a variety of contexts, this Court has 

opined that the State's loss of or failure to preserve evidence did not warrant consequences in 

light of (a) the degree of negligence or bad faith involved; (2) the importance of the missing 

evidence considering the probative value and reliability of secondary or substitute evidence that

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